RECEIVED

Oct 27 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Horry County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5839 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021)

Lower Court Case No. 2016-CP-26-06412

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF THOMAS GRIFFIN,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001975

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial, where Petitioner had the right to counsel, and where counsel explained he could not effectively represent Petitioner at trial because Petitioner was incapable of rational conversation, since the SVPA must be construed in a manner that recognized Petitioner's right to effective assistance of counsel?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial, where Petitioner was unable to logically communicate and thus unable to testify, but he had history of successful restoration to competency, since procedural due process forbids the significant deprivation of an individual's liberty without giving him the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way?

3.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial where § 44-48-100(B) provided "the right not to be tried while incompetent" did not apply to an accused SVP who was charged with a predicate offense but found incompetent to stand trial for that offense, since Petitioner had instead been convicted of a predicate offense and § 44-48-100(B) was therefore inapplicable?

4.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner's motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial where trial court had found the chief administrative judge's ruling on the matter months before could not be "overruled," where Petitioner's mental state had continued to deteriorate, and where Petitioner was found unfit to stand trial in connection with a prior case, since evidence of a defendant's irrational behavior and prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial may signal the need for further inquiry into competency?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was tried before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-48-10 – 44-48-170, from October 22 – 23, 2018, in Horry County. R. 6. James Falk represented Petitioner and Christopher Morrow represented the State. R. 6. The jury found Petitioner was a sexually violent predator (SVP). R. 162, ll. 11-13. The trial court signed an order of commitment. R. 178.

On November 1, 2018, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion. *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Thomas Griffin*, Op. No. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 27-30). Petitioner sought rehearing. Rehearing was denied in an order filed September 27, 2021.

Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari.

REASONS WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari because novel questions of law are presented and substantial constitutional issues are directly involved. *See* Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR; Rule 242(b)(4), SCACR. Further, the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court. *See* Rule 242(b)(3), SCACR.

This case presents novel questions of law: 1) whether an accused SVP's right to the effective assistance of counsel encompasses the right to be competent at trial to assist counsel in his defense; and 2) whether due process affords an accused SVP, who was competent to stand trial on the predicate offense and who had a history of successful competency restorations, the right to a competency evaluation and restoration if needed so that he may have a meaningful opportunity to be heard at trial. At issue here is whether an accused SVP, who has a track record of competency restoration, has the right to be heard at his trial by anyone (his lawyer; the jury) before he is indefinitely committed. These questions directly involve substantial constitutional issues since the reach of the constitutional rights to due process and the assistance of counsel must be established in order for this matter to be resolved. *See* U.S. Const. amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3.

Finally, the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court, since this Court held in *Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 846 (2017), that the right to counsel afforded potential SVPs cannot merely be a superficial right, but the Court of Appeals' decision effectively rendered it so.

This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1999, Petitioner pleaded guilty but mentally ill (GBMI) to second degree assault with intent to commit criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and he was sentenced to twenty years in prison. R. 177. When Petitioner's release date neared, the State sought his commitment pursuant to the SVPA. Petitioner had a decades-long history of schizophrenia, which caused auditory and visual hallucinations when he went without antipsychotic medication. R. 91, ll. 5-14. Petitioner also had a history of "decompensation:" "becoming more psychotic when he is noncompliant with his medications." R. 91, ll. 11-13.

On February 28, 2018, defense counsel moved for a competency evaluation. R. 171 – 173. On August 7, 2018, the parties appeared before the Honorable William H. Seals, the chief administrative judge for the Horry County court of common pleas, and defense counsel explained that Petitioner could not participate in his defense because when meeting with counsel, "there were times when [Petitioner's] answers made no sense relative to my questions." R. 1; R. 3, ll. 12-18. Counsel offered that his own observations had been "verified by what Dr. G[ehle] put in her report as far as schizophrenia and prior treatments." R. 3, ll. 6-8. Counsel argued Petitioner "would be prejudiced by trying to have this trial where he could have a significant deprivation of liberty . . . [since] he can't participate in his defense." R. 3, ll. 14-18.

Dr. Marie Gehle, a chief psychologist at the South Carolina Department of Mental Health, had evaluated Petitioner to determine whether he was an SVP, and she diagnosed him with biastophilia and schizophrenia. R. 62, l. 24 – 58, l. 1; R. 67, ll. 18-20; R. 86, ll. 1-3. Petitioner's mental health history included periods of "being on his medicine to decompensating and then being restored." Petitioner had been restored to competency more than once in connection with at least one prior case. R. 108, l. 23 – 109, l. 3. Petitioner had been compliant

with his medications for periods sometimes as long as seventeen years. Prior to trial, Petitioner was moved from the Department of Corrections to the Horry County jail and his medications were changed from injections to oral medications. R. 171 – 172. Petitioner’s psychiatric medications were discontinued on January 12, 2018 (nine months before his SVP trial and one month before his motion for a competency evaluation), due to sporadic and then eventual noncompliance with the medication regimen. R. 108, ll. 3-10.

The circuit court denied the motion based on an incorrect reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B), which provided that the “right not to be tried while incompetent” was inapplicable in SVP proceedings against a respondent who was incompetent to stand trial on the predicate offense. R. 3, l. 21 – 4, l. 3. (Petitioner was competent to stand trial on the predicate offense.) S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) provides that a pretrial hearing may proceed with an incompetent respondent where the respondent was incompetent on the predicate offense:

If the person charged with a sexually violent offense has been found incompetent to stand trial and is about to be released and the person’s commitment is sought pursuant to subsection (A), the court first shall hear evidence and determine whether the person committed the act or acts with which he is charged. The hearing on this issue must comply with all the procedures specified in this section. In addition, the rules of evidence applicable in criminal cases apply, and **all constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials, other than the right not to be tried while incompetent, apply. . .**

(emphasis added).

Based on that inapplicable provision, the circuit court ruled, “44-48-100(B) says that . . . all the constitutional rights available to defendants at criminal trials [apply] other than the right not to be tried while incompetent. So, I think that’s dead on the money in the statute.” R. 3, l. 22 – 4, l. 3.

On October 22, 2018, when Petitioner appeared before the Honorable D. Craig Brown for trial, defense counsel made a second motion for a competency evaluation based on a “significant change in circumstances.” R. 6; R. 165. Counsel explained that Petitioner’s “mental state ha[d] significantly deteriorated,” and that Petitioner could not testify because he was incapable of logically or truthfully answering questions. R. 44, ll. 3-25; R. 43, ll. 14-25. Counsel further explained he had “not been able to speak with [Petitioner], do the type of preparation that I would need in order to talk to him about some of these victims that he was alleged to have assaulted.” R. 43, l. 25 – 39, l. 10. Counsel offered that over the course of his representation, conversations with Petitioner had gone from “iffy” to not “making any sense.” R. 44, ll. 12-20.

Counsel submitted that per *Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 843 (2017), a respondent in an SVP trial had the right to effective assistance of counsel, and that he was unable to “be effective counsel when I can’t communicate with my client.” R. 40, l. 11 – 42, l. 1. Counsel argued that conducting an SVP trial when Petitioner lacked the ability to assist in his own defense was a violation of Petitioner’s procedural due process protections under the state and federal constitutions, as evidenced by the application of the three-pronged test of *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319 (1976), to his case. R. 165 – 166.

The State argued that Petitioner did not have the right to be competent at trial based on S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-100(B) (as seen, an inapplicable provision) and since the requisite mental abnormality or personality disorder for SVP commitment might prevent competency in some of these cases anyway. R. 37, l. 14 – 38, l. 1. Defense counsel countered that Petitioner had a “track record” of “being able to be returned to competency when he stays on his psychiatric medications.” R. 43, ll. 3-5. Counsel also pointed out that § 44-48-100(B) was inapplicable. R. 40, ll. 21-24.

The trial court stated, “I don’t disagree with you [counsel] at all. The statute doesn’t specifically address competencies in these types of cases.” R. 42, ll. 2-4. However, the court ruled that, “even if for argument sake I agreed with you . . . I don’t think I have authority to overrule what Judge Seals has done. He’s already decided.” R. 38, ll. 18-22; R. 42, ll. 5-8.

The trial went forward and the jury deliberated for only twenty-five minutes before it found that Petitioner was a sexually violent predator. R. 161, ll. 9-12; R. 162, ll. 11-13. The court signed an order of commitment. R. 178.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals found no error and held that an accused SVP cannot be entitled to a competency evaluation. *Matter of Griffin*, Op. No. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 27-30). The opinion did not address Petitioner’s history of successful competency restoration. The Court of Appeals recognized that whether an accused SVP’s right to counsel encompassed the right to be competent to assist counsel was a novel issue but concluded there was no statutory right to competency and that other procedural protections afforded by the Act sufficiently satisfied due process. The Court of Appeals further found *In re Oxner*, 430 S.C. 555, 566-69, 846 S.E.2d 365, 371-73 (Ct. App. 2020) *cert. granted* August 25, 2021, supported this conclusion. *Matter of Griffin*, Op. No. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 29).

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner’s motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial, where Petitioner had the right to counsel, and where counsel explained he could not effectively represent Petitioner at trial because Petitioner was incapable of rational conversation, since the SVPA must be construed in a manner that recognized Petitioner’s right to effective assistance of counsel.

Petitioner had a right to the effective assistance of counsel in this SVP case. Absent competency, Petitioner was unable to access this right because he could not communicate with his counsel and assist in his defense.

A respondent in an SVP proceeding has a “right to effective assistance of counsel” which is statutory right contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90,¹ and a constitutional right “arising under the Fourteenth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution.” *Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 179, 796 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017). “[T]he General Assembly provided SVPs with a right to counsel, which cannot be merely a superficial right.” *Id.* at 184, 796 S.E.2d at 849.

“An SVP’s right to counsel arises from a constitutional right to due process similar to the rights attendant to a criminal trial.” *Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 185, 796 S.E.2d at 849. “The test for competency to stand or continue trial is whether the defendant has the sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational, as well as a factual, understanding of the proceedings against him.” *State v. Bell*, 293 S.C. 391, 395-96, 360 S.E.2d 706, 708 (1987). “It has long been accepted that a person whose

¹ S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90(B) provides in relevant part, “At all stages of the proceedings under this chapter, a person subject to this chapter is entitled to the assistance of counsel, and if the person is indigent, the court must appoint counsel to assist the person.”

mental condition is such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to a trial.” *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975).

“[T]he aim of requiring a defendant to be competent [i]s ‘to ensure that he has the capacity to understand the proceedings and to assist counsel.’” *Sims v. State*, 313 S.C. 420, 423, 438 S.E.2d 253, 254 (1993) (quoting *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 402 (1993)). A person who is incompetent to stand trial is unable to assist his attorney in preparing his defense. A “mentally incompetent defendant, though physically present in the courtroom, is in reality afforded no chance to defend himself.” *Drope*, 420 U.S. at 171 (internal quotations omitted). Petitioner was unable to “participate in his defense” because counsel could not “communicate with [his] client.” R. 3, ll. 14-17; R. 40, l. 11 – 37, l. 1. Due to his inability to engage in rational thought and communicate with and assist counsel, Petitioner was essentially tried *in absentia*.

“We cannot construe the Act in a manner that does not recognize an SVP’s constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel.” *Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 187, 796 S.E.2d at 850. In this case, the circuit court and Court of Appeals construed the Act as depriving Petitioner of the opportunity to attain competency for trial. R. 3, l. 21 – 4, l. 3; *Matter of Griffin*, Op. No. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 29-30). Absent competency, Petitioner could not understand the proceedings, consult with his lawyer or participate in his defense, which rendered his right to effective assistance of counsel illusory. This error conflicted with Petitioner’s right to counsel since the Act must be construed so that an accused’s right to counsel is not merely a superficial right. *Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 184, 796 S.E.2d at 849; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3; S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90.

2.

The Court of Appeals erred where it affirmed the denial of Petitioner’s motion to be evaluated for competency to stand trial, where Petitioner was unable to logically communicate and thus unable to testify, but he had history of successful restoration to competency, since procedural due process forbids the significant deprivation of an individual’s liberty without giving him the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way.

Petitioner was unable to communicate with counsel or the jury but he had been successfully restored to competency more than once in connection with at least one prior criminal case. The flexible protections of due process should have afforded Petitioner a competency evaluation to effectuate his right to a meaningful opportunity to be heard before he was indefinitely deprived of his liberty.

“The United States Supreme Court ‘repeatedly has recognized that civil commitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection.’” *Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.E.2d 172, 179, 796 S.E.2d 843, 846 (2017) (quoting *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979)). “Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of ‘liberty’ or ‘property’ interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment.” *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 332 (1976). A civil commitment is a “significant deprivation of liberty.” *Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 179, 796 S.E.2d at 846 (citing *Addington*, 441 U.S. at 425).

“The procedural component of the state and federal due process clauses requires the individual whose property or liberty interests are affected to have received adequate notice of the proceeding, **the opportunity to be heard in person**, the opportunity to introduce evidence, the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and the right to meaningful judicial

review.” *Dangerfield v. State*, 376 S.C. 176, 179, 656 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2008) (emphasis added). “Procedural due process requires notice, **the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way**, and judicial review.” *Blanton v. Stathos*, 351 S.C. 534, 542, 570 S.E.2d 565, 569 (Ct. App. 2002) (emphasis added). “The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’” *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. at 333 (quoting *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)). Here, counsel explained Petitioner could not testify since he was unable to logically or truthfully answer questions. R. 43, ll. 15-25. Counsel had been unable to consult with Petitioner about his defense. R. 43, l. 25 – 44, l. 3. Petitioner was denied the opportunity to be heard in person and to be heard in a meaningful way before he was indefinitely deprived of his liberty—opportunities to which he was constitutionally entitled.

The Court of Appeals identified other rights afforded offenders under the SVPA, including the right to counsel, the right to a probable cause hearing, and the right to a jury trial; it concluded those rights were sufficient to satisfy procedural due process. However, it did not address the important fact of Petitioner’s history of successful competency restoration. *Matter of Griffin*, Op. No. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 21, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 25 at 27-30). Procedural due process requires that Petitioner be afforded a meaningful opportunity to be heard, which was not possible where he could not communicate with his lawyer or with the jury due to an apparent lack of fitness to stand trial. As detailed in Issue 1 above, Petitioner also had a due process right to counsel. *Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 179, 796 S.E.2d at 846.

“Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands.” *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. at 334 (quoting *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972) (alterations omitted)). Due process requires that “procedures be tailored, in light

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