STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

NOV 24 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Court Of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2018-001975
Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2021-0001228

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of
Thomas Griffin,

Petitioner.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed Petitioner's civil commitment because the circuit court properly ruled there is no due process right to be competent before SVPA proceedings can move forward. (Petitioner's Issues I, II, III, and IV).

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming Petitioner's civil commitment because: 1) counsel told the court he could not effectively represent him; 2) procedural due process required the requested evaluation because the SVPA constitutes a significant deprivation of his liberty interest, and his history indicated he could be successfully restored to competency; 3) the circuit court incorrectly applied §44-48-100(B); and 4) the circuit court erroneously ruled it could not overrule another circuit court judge because he had been found to be incompetent to stand trial in a previous criminal case, and his mental condition had deteriorated since the previous order was entered. While set forth in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as four separate issues, all of the asserted errors are ultimately premised on a purported procedural due process violation arising from Petitioner's mental status.¹

A. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (Petitioner's Issue D)

Petitioner makes repeated references to the right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA proceedings recognized in Chapman. In Chapman, this Court held the SVPA's general statutory right to counsel encompassed the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, and a person committed pursuant to the SVPA could raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims via a common law petition for habeas relief. 796 S.E.2d at 846-847.

¹While Petitioner has changed the order of some arguments, the Petition essentially regurgitates the issues and arguments he raised in the Court of Appeals, with one primary distinction: Petitioner's attempt to expand this Court's holding in In re Chapman, 419 S.C. 172, 796 S.E.2d 846 (2017), is now more blatant.

Chapman also held, however, that allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel could not be raised on direct appeal. *Id.* at 848 (merits of ineffective assistance of SVPA counsel will not be addressed on direct appeal because such claims may be raised in a habeas proceeding). Petitioner now openly seeks to expand Chapman to create a presumption of ineffective assistance that can be raised in a direct appeal if counsel merely tells the trial court he cannot effectively represent his client for some reason. Chapman does not stand for this proposition, and expanding its scope will result in the very thing the Supreme Court sought to avoid – addressing the merits of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in direct appeals from civil commitments pursuant to the SVPA.²

The Chapman dissent presciently recognized the majority holding regarding the right to effective assistance of counsel could create problems and confusion given the multiple stages of a SVPA case. Chapman, 796 S.E.2d at 851-52 (Few, A.J. dissenting). While the dissent focused on the impact of statutorily required annual review hearings under the SVPA, this case presents yet another problem created by a broad reading of Chapman.

Even if the Court broadens the Chapman decision and considers the ineffective assistance of counsel allegations in this direct appeal, which will require presumptions and speculation, the trial record reveals Petitioner's counsel was very effective in vigorously protecting Petitioner's interests.³ In addition to repeatedly raising the competency issue at every opportunity, including

²Indeed, trial counsel stated multiple times he could not "effectively" represent Petitioner. It can be inferred counsel used the effective representation language precisely to try to expand Chapman and make the ineffective assistance issue reviewable on direct appeal. At a minimum, the State should have the opportunity to explore counsel's statement at a habeas evidentiary hearing.

³In his brief before the Court of Appeals, Petitioner referred to trial counsel as an experienced trial attorney, an apt description notably omitted from the Petition before this Court. (Final Brief of Appellant, p. 11). Trial counsel is indeed an experienced trial attorney, who has handled numerous SVP cases as a SVP contract attorney for the Office of Indigent Defense.

pre-trial and closing argument, he aggressively cross-examined the State's expert regarding the basis for her diagnoses and conclusions, and made a thorough and impassioned closing argument, which included reference to his inability to call Petitioner as a witness. Thus, trial counsel acted exactly how a seasoned, experienced trial attorney would be expected to act under the circumstances, and absent the presumption Petitioner seeks, counsel's actions cannot be considered ineffective for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in this direct appeal.

Trial counsel also claimed he could only win the case if Petitioner was able to testify on his own behalf about his offenses, particularly the North Carolina pending charge, and the inability to call Petitioner as a witness rendered counsel's representation ineffective.⁴ This contention requires extensive speculation, as well as disregard for evidence in the record, to rule in Petitioner's favor. The Court must assume Petitioner could have prevailed at trial but for counsel's inability to call him as a witness, which ignores significant undisputed facts that fully support the jury's verdict.

There was no dispute at trial about Petitioner's Schizophrenia diagnosis, and Dr. Gehle testified Petitioner continued to exhibit certain schizophrenic symptoms, including delusions and disorganized thinking, even when he was adequately medicated. It does not require speculation to assume Petitioner would have exhibited such symptoms when subjected to the stress of testifying at trial, the jury would have observed Petitioner's condition, and considered it in evaluating the credibility of his testimony.

⁴If the State had been aware counsel would make this claim, it could have presented examples of SVPA cases the State has lost in the absence of any testimony on behalf of the respondents. The often repeated contention SVPA cases are essentially "slam dunks" for the State is simply inaccurate.

Further, Dr. Gehle testified Petitioner admitted to her during the interview that he committed the North Carolina offense, and verified the victim's factual account as accurate. Given the evidence regarding Petitioner's convictions and his admissions regarding the outstanding North Carolina charge, combined with the probability Petitioner would have exhibited schizophrenic symptoms while testifying, it is likely the jury verdict would be the same if Petitioner had testified at trial.

B. SPVA, Competency and Procedural Due Process (Petitioner's Issue II)

1. Statutory Interpretation

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is that the court ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm'n, 427 S.C. 305, 831 S.E.2d 429, 432 (2019) (*citing* Greene v. S.C. Election Comm'n, 314 S.C. 449, 445 S.E.2d 451, 453 [1994]). The court must first attempt to construe the plain language of the statute, and if the language of a statute is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, ‘the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.’ *Id.* (*quoting* Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 [2000]) (emphasis in original). “What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent.” Hodges, 533 S.E.2d at 581. The statute’s words must ‘be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation.’ Odom, 831 S.E.2s at 432 (*quoting* Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 642 S.E.2d 751, 754 [2007]); *see also* State v. Simpson, No. 2016-002210, 2020 WL 86625, at *4 (S.C. Ct. App. Jan. 8, 2020) (same).

The legislative intent must be gleaned from the entire statute rather than clauses taken out of context. Singletary v. S.C. Dep't of Educ., 316 S.C. 153, 447 S.E.2d 231, 236 (Ct. App. 1994).

“The statute must be read as a whole, and sections that are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cty., 368 S.C. 388, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). The court should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute, but read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. *Id.* “In that vein, [the court] must read the statute so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,’ for ‘[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.’” *Id.* (citation omitted) (alterations in original) (*quoting State v. Sweat*, 379 S.C. 367, 665 S.E.2d 645, 651, 654 [Ct. App. 2008]).

To ascertain the legislative intent to encompass mentally incompetent persons in the class of persons covered under the SVPA, the court need look no further than the express purpose of the statute. The Legislature found “that a mentally abnormal and extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators exists,” “the likelihood these sexually violent predators will engage in repeated acts of sexual offenses if not treated for their mental conditions is significant,” and “the existing civil commitment process is inadequate to address the special needs of sexually violent predators and the risks that they present to society.” S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-20 (2018). The SVPA defines “mental abnormality” as “a mental condition affecting a person’s emotional or volitional capacity that predisposes the person to commit sexually violent offenses.” S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-30(3) (2018). The increased danger to society posed by persons with mental abnormalities predisposing them to commit sexually violent offenses clearly encompasses persons whose relevant mental abnormalities may also render them incompetent to participate in the court proceedings.

This legislative intent is further evidenced by the express exclusion of the right not to be tried while incompetent in hearings required by §44-48-100(B). This section provides that when a person was found to be incompetent to stand trial on a sexually violent offense, the court must hold a hearing to determine whether the person committed the charged act or acts (“charges hearing”), and all constitutional rights afforded a defendant at criminal trials apply to the hearing **“other than the right not to be tried while incompetent.”** S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-100(B) (2018) (emphasis added).⁵ If competency is not required for a hearing to determine if the evidence indicates beyond a reasonable doubt that the person actually committed the charged offenses for the purpose of ordering an evaluation, it is disingenuous to argue the Legislature intended that competency be required for all other SVPA proceedings, including a trial to determine if the person qualifies as a sexually violent predator. Holding otherwise would lead to SVPA proceedings pending indefinitely while the person is detained in a secure facility without the “long term control, care and treatment” contemplated by the SVPA, or the release of potential sexually violent predators with virtually no supervision and no treatment. Either alternative is an **absurd result**, and undermines the ultimate goals of public safety, and “long term control, care and treatment” of sexually violent predators.

2. Procedural Due Process

It is now well established that sexual predator civil commitment proceedings are civil, not criminal, even if the applicable statute affords certain rights routinely recognized in criminal cases.

⁵The statute requires the court to make specific findings on “the extent to which the person’s incompetence . . . affected the outcome of the hearing, including its effect on the person’s ability to consult with and assist counsel and to testify on the person’s own behalf.” In this case, even though the trial was not a charges hearing pursuant to 44-48-100(B), the court did note for the record counsel’s report he could not understand Petitioner when Petitioner tried to talk to him during the trial. (TT, p. 128; R., p 133).

Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) (upholding the constitutionality of Kansas' sexual predator civil commitment statute); In re Matthews, 345 S.C.638, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316-317 (2001) (SVPA proceedings are civil, not criminal, in nature); In re Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002) (same). As a result, procedures for establishing competence for criminal defendants do not apply, and the abatement requirements of criminal process do not apply. In re Sykes, 303 Kan. 820, 367 P.3d 1244, 1247 (2016).

The Kansas Supreme Court's thorough, well-reasoned analysis in Sykes regarding the interplay between the person's mental competency and sexually violent predator civil commitment proceedings is instructive.⁶ As in this case, Sykes contended his mental incompetence during the civil commitment proceedings violated his due process right to assist in his own defense. After again acknowledging the civil nature of sexual predator commitment proceedings, the court found there was no statutory requirement of competence in civil proceedings, and declined to create one, citing Hendricks and In re Hay, 263 Kan. 822, 953 P.2d 666 (1992) (specific protections provided by the sexual predator civil commitment statute satisfy procedural due process requirements). *Id.* at 1247-1248. *See also*, In re Oxner, 430 S.C. 555, 846 S.E.2d 366, 373 (2020), *cert. granted* August 25, 2021 (the SVPA contains significant procedural safeguards).⁷

The court then reviewed the Washington Supreme Court's analysis of due process and competency in civil commitment proceedings in In re Detention of Morgan, 180 Wash.2d 312, 330 P.3d 774 (2016), and concurred in the Washington court's conclusion that the three part due

⁶The SVPA was modeled on the Kansas sexual predator statute. Matthews, 550 S.E. 2d at 649. While both statutes have been modified since originally enacted, the procedural due process protections remain.

⁷Oxner involves the SVPA provisions regarding a person who has been charged with a sexually violent offense but found incompetent to stand trial. Those provisions are only relevant in this case to the extent they are pertinent to the legislative intent to include mentally incompetent individuals within the SVPA purview. Petitioner was convicted of a sexually violent offense.

process requirements outlined in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976), weighed in favor of allowing sexual predator proceedings to move forward if the person is incompetent to assist in his defense.⁸ *Id.* The court then noted seven other jurisdictions had reached the same conclusion on the issue. *Id.* (*citing* Moore v. Superior Court, 237 P.3d 530 (2010) (due process does not require mental competence of individual subject to commitment under Sexually Violent Predators Act)); In re Commitment of Weekly, 956 N.E.2d 634, 647 (2011) (establishing that fitness evaluation does not affect ability to receive a fair commitment trial because of numerous procedural safeguards against erroneous deprivation of liberty); In re Det. of Cabbage, 671 N.W.2d 442, 448 (Iowa 2003) (lack of pretrial competence evaluation causes no deprivation of due process rights); Commonwealth v. Nieves, 446 Mass. 583, 846 N.E.2d 379 (2006) (“robust, adversary character” of commitment proceeding minimizes risk of erroneous commitment of person who is not sexually dangerous; due process is preserved through adversarial process); State ex rel. Nixon v. Kinder, 129 S.W.3d 5, 10 (Mo. App.2003) (SVP determination, regardless of competency of respondent, is not unconstitutional deprivation of liberty); In re Commitment of Fisher, 164 S.W.3d 637 (Tex. 2005) (difference between sexual predator commitment proceedings and conventional commitment proceedings does not make predator proceedings punitive; competency requirement for criminal proceedings is inapplicable to civil commitments); In re Commitment of Luttrell, 312 Wis.2d 695, 754 N.W.2d 249 (2008) (no right to competency evaluation before hearing on sexually violent person status; commitment is for treatment, not punishment, and due process concerns are remote).

The Kansas court expressed concerns regarding the alternatives if competency was required in sexual predator civil commitment proceedings, which are the same concerns discussed

⁸The Mathews factors are discussed below in relation to this case.

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